ODS compensates its participating provider dentists for their services on the basis of a fee for service, determined in part through fee schedules submitted by each dentist. ODS sets its maximum allowable fee at the 90th percentile of all fees for a procedure submitted to it by participating dentists. That is, the maximum allowable fee is equal to or greater than the fees charged by 90% of participating dentists. If 10 or fewer of a dentist's filed fees are above this 90th percentile, ODS informs the dentist of the maximum amount that it will pay for the service. Most participating dentists file fee schedules proposing to charge above the maximum allowable fee for 10 or fewer procedures, so they are informed of exactly what fee they may charge and can avoid lowering their fees more than necessary to receive payment from ODS. If the dentist agrees to charge that amount, he or she signs the notification and returns it to ODS.

In excess of 90 percent of the dentists in the state of Oregon have provider contracts with ODS. For most of these dentist, payments from treatment of ODS patients are a significant part of their income. Most of these dentists are in independent, private practice and actually or potentially compete with other participating ODS dentists to provide dental service to both ODS and non-ODS patients.

ODS' participating dentists agree to abide by ODS rules and policies, which contain what is called a "most favored nation" clause ("MFN"). The MFN requires that each dentist charge ODS the lowest price that dentist charges any other group. Accordingly, if a dentist reduces fees to a competing dental plan, the MFN requires that the dentist also reduce fees to ODS. The United States alleges that the effect of the MFN has been to require participating ODS dentists to charge other dental plans and non-ODS patients fees that are as high as or higher than the fees charged to ODS.

The Complaint alleges that, beginning at a time unknown to the plaintiff and continuing through at least September 1994, ODS and others engaged in a combination in unreasonable restraint of interstate trade and commerce in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 1. The Complaint alleges that the combination ended in September 1994, when ODS voluntarily terminated the MFN for business reasons.

To form and effectuate this combination, ODS adopted and enforced an MFN in its rules and policies which dentists were contractually obligated to adhere to, received and disseminated information

on the maximum allowable fees for certain procedures, and obtained signed commitments from participating dentists to charge the maximum allowable fees.

Had this case proceeded to trial, the plaintiff was prepared to prove that the combination unreasonably restrained price competition among dentists and between other dental insurance plans and ODS, and stabilized prices for dental services.

ODS' adoption and enforcement of the MFN restrained price competition among Oregon dentists for the provision of dental services because it caused significant numbers of dentists to refuse to discount their fees. Before the MFN was enforced, certain Oregon dentists had reduced their fees to ODS competitors in order to participate in the competitors' managed-care plans. Others had indicated a willingness to do so.

After ODS began enforcing the MFN, however, most participating dentists refused to discount their fees to non-ODS patients or competing discount dental plans because, if they did, the MFN would require them to also lower all of their fees to ODS. Since most dentists in Oregon receive a significant portion of their income from treating ODS patients, the cost to those dentists of discounting their fees on non-ODS patients or competing dental care plans became too great to justify discounting. For the same reason, it was too costly for most dentists to drop their participation in ODS' plan in order to avoid the MFN and be able to discount their fees to competing discount dental plans. Consequently, the MFN substantially reduced discounting that was occurring and, had it continued in force, would have deterred future discounting.

The plaintiff was also prepared to prove that the combination unreasonably restrained competition between ODS and other dental insurance plans. Because of the MFN and its effect on the willingness of dentists to join discount dental plans, competing discount plans were unable to attract and keep a sufficiently large qualified, and geographically varied panel of dentists to adequately serve their members and make their plans commercially marketable to employer and other groups. Some plans left the market or had their ability to attract and serve patient groups severely restricted, leading to a substantial reduction in their ability to complete with ODS.

The combination deprived Oregon consumers of price competition among dentists who stopped discounting their fees. Consumers were also deprived of choices of competing dental insurance plans offering different combinations of dentists, services, and prices.

Moreover, the plaintiff was prepared to prove that ODS' revealing the maximum acceptable fees to those dentists with 10 or fewer procedures over the maximum prevented those fees from falling below the maximum and effectively stabilized those fees at the maximum acceptable level—a level higher than they might otherwise have been. As a result, consumers were further deprived of price competition among dentists.

III. Explanation of the Proposed Final Judgment

The plaintiff and ODS have stipulated that the Court may enter the proposed Final Judgment after compliance with the Antitrust Procedures and Penalties Act, 15 U.S.C. 16(b)–(h). The proposed Final Judgment provides that its entry does not constitute any evidence against or admission of any party with respect to any issue of law or fact.

Under the provisions of Section 2(e) of the Antitrust Procedures and Penalties Act, 15 U.S.C. 16(e), the proposed Final Judgment may not be entered unless the Court finds that entry is in the public interest. Section VIII of the proposed Final Judgment sets forth such a finding.

The proposed Final Judgment is intended to ensure that ODS does not reinstate its MFN and ceases disclosing its maximum allowable fees to participating dentists. The proposed Final Judgment also prohibits ODS from taking any other action that may influence dentists' decisions regarding the discounting of fees.

A. Scope of the Proposed Final Judgment

Section III of the proposed Final Judgment provides that the Final Judgment shall apply to ODS and to ODS' officers, employees, members acting as corporate policy makers, directors, successors, assigns, subsidiaries, divisions and any other organizational units of any kind, and to all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them.

In the Stipulation to the proposed Final Judgment, ODS has agreed to be bound by the terms of the proposed Final Judgment, pending its approval by the Court.

B. Prohibitions and Obligations

Under Section IV of the proposed Final Judgment, ODS is enjoined and restrained for a period of five years from maintaining, adopting, or enforcing an MFN or similar provision in